

Crime Victim Assistance Program Counselling Guidelines 2003



Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General Policing and Community Safety Branch Victim Services Division

Crime Victim Assistance Program Counselling Guidelines

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Counselling Services or Expenses	1
Guiding Principles and Counselling Objectives	2
Qualifications and Fees of Counsellor	3
Insurance	4
General	4
Reports	5
Consultations	5
Continuation of Counselling	5
Recommencement of Counselling	6
Psycho-Educational Sessions for Support Persons to Assist Victim	6
Immediate Family Members of Victims of Crime	7
Witness	7
Group Counselling	7
Attendance by the Offender	7
Change of Counsellor	8
Child Care Workers	8
In-Home Counselling	8
Attendance of Counsellor in Court	8
Cancelled Sessions	8
Counselling Aids	9
Telephone Counselling	9
Travel To and From Counselling Appointments	9
Invoices	9

APPENDICES:

Appendix A:	Fee Rates	11
Appendix B:	Sample Intake Report	13
Appendix C:	Sample Progress/Termination Report	15
Appendix D:	Sample Invoices	17

Introduction

British Columbia's Crime Victim Assistance Program (CVAP), established on June 30, 2002, is administered by Victim Services Division of the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General. The program was introduced to replace the Criminal Injury Compensation Program that was administered by the Workers' Compensation Board since 1972.

The Crime Victim Assistance Act and the two regulations, the Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation, and the Crime Victim Assistance (Income Support and Vocational Services or Expenses Benefits) Regulation, set out the benefits available as well as any conditions or limitations on receiving benefits.

Further clarification is also contained in program policy which guides the adjudicative processes in a manner that:

- clarifies the intent or meaning of provisions of the act and regulations and provides guidance on their implementation;
- promotes consistency with other legislation or government policy that has a bearing on the Crime Victim Assistance Program; and
- promotes fair and consistent decision-making.

Counselling Services or Expenses

The Crime Victim Assistance Act establishes counselling services or expenses as a benefit which may be available to victims, immediate family members of injured or deceased victims and some witnesses. The Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation sets out the conditions or limitations for providing counselling benefits and also establishes the approved fee rate for reimbursement of counselling services.

The General regulation establishes the maximum number of hours of counselling available, as follows:

- 48 hours for victims
- 36 hours for immediate family members, and
- 12 hours for witnesses

However, where the claimant was a minor when the offence occurred, the number of hours of counselling available may exceed the maximums set out above.

The Counselling Guidelines provide further information and clarification regarding expectations for the provision of counselling services, reporting requirements and limitations applicable to service providers requesting reimbursement for counselling services on accepted claims with the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Guiding Principles and Counselling Objectives

Where counselling services or expenses have been awarded to a victim, immediate family member or witness under the legislation, the following guiding principles apply:

- 1) The Crime Victim Assistance Program provides counselling benefits to eligible victims, immediate family members of injured or deceased victims and applicants who meet the definition of 'witness' under the Crime Victim Assistance Act.
- 2) The counselling benefits are provided to respond to the psychological, psychiatric or counselling needs that arise from the claimant's victimization.
- 3) In providing counselling benefits, the goal is to assist the claimant in his or her recovery from the psychological trauma experienced as a result of the injury. Treatment funded by the Crime Victim Assistance Program must focus on assisting the claimant to:
 - develop skills and coping strategies to reduce the symptoms arising or related to the criminal offence and injury and
 - restore functioning to a level similar to the claimant's pre-injury functioning, recognizing the following:
 - (a) The extent of recovery that may be attained will differ as a function of several factors, including: family history, pre-morbid functioning, developmental stage at which injury occurred, type and duration of criminal injury, personality dynamics, coping capacity, available support system, other life stressors, and physical health.
 - (b) For some claimants, recovery will be attained by a return to their prior level of functioning (i.e. before the criminal injury occurred). However, some claimants experience long-term psychological changes (e.g. feelings of sadness, decreased confidence and increased vulnerability) and may not attain their prior level of functioning.
 - (c) Particularly vulnerable individuals, such as those with severe personality disorders or psychological disturbance and/or those who have experienced prolonged, severe early childhood abuse or neglect, may never fully recover from their criminal injury. Because provision of exceedingly long-term psychological support for these claimants exceeds the mandate of the Crime Victim Assistance Program, counselling authorized by the Crime Victim Assistance Program will be limited as outlined below (see Continuation of Counselling on page 5).
 - (d) When counselling is funded for a child or adolescent, prior level of functioning may not be an appropriate measure for recovery. In these cases, the individual's current functioning must also be evaluated in relation to his or her current developmental stage. That is, the goal of treatment with a seven year old child who was victimized at age five should be in keeping with the development of a seven year old (taking into account factors noted in (a) above) rather than a return to the prior level of functioning of a five year old.

4) The number of hours of counselling available for victims, immediate family members and witnesses are subject to the conditions and limitations set out in the Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation

Counselling benefits are provided to address the psychological injury arising as a result of the offence. It is recognized that in some instances the victimization gives rise to concurrent issues that while not directly related to the offence are considered to be commonly occurring issues due to the nature of the offence. It is recognized that these issues need to be addressed in conjunction with counselling specific to the offence (e.g. alcohol and substance abuse in cases involving historical sexual abuse). Funding will not be provided however, for counselling in relation to issues that are unconnected with the offence or are extraneous to the injury.

Qualifications and Fees of Counsellor

In most cases, fees for counselling will be paid directly to the service provider. The fee payable to an individual counsellor will be determined by the program in accordance with the Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation.

In order to determine the fee rate payable to a counsellor, a curriculum vitae including proof of work experience, academic and professional accreditation *must be filed* with the Crime Victim Assistance Program by all counsellors who are not registered members of the College of Psychologists of British Columbia or Social Workers "approved for private practice" by the B.C. Board of Registration for Social Workers. A curriculum vitae is required by *all* out-of-province counsellors, (including Psychologists and Registered Social Workers approved for private practice).

The curriculum vitae must clearly outline the degree major and/or master's program obtained from an accredited college or university and state how many supervised practicum hours have been completed with the names of supervisors and number of years of work experience and employers.

The fees payable shall be determined by the Crime Victim Assistance Program and shall be determined based on training, qualifications, membership in professionally accredited associations, and experience as set out in the Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation (replicated in Appendix A).

All counsellors, regardless of their level of qualification, are expected to have demonstrated, well-developed communication skills, interviewing and assessment skills, good judgment in defining goals and in developing intervention strategies and good administrative skills. In addition, the counsellor must have knowledge, directly relevant to the presenting problem and proposed counselling, in several of the following fields:

- intervention theory
- human development
- adolescent or child psychology
- developmental psychology
- non-verbal aspects of counselling
- family counselling

- social policy and legal framework
- service delivery systems and community resources
- principles of case management and educational or support group process

All counsellors must consent, in writing, to a criminal records check which must be renewed every three years. A Consent for Disclosure of Criminal Record Information form can be downloaded from the RCMP Web site: <u>www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/forms/3584e.pdf</u> Any recorded incident indicating behaviour or a pattern of behaviour which the Crime Victim Assistance Program identifies as putting the safety and well-being of a vulnerable person at risk will lead to automatic disqualification for funding for counselling services through the program.

While the Crime Victim Assistance Program is responsible for determining a counsellor's education and experience in order to determine the appropriate fee rate, payment for counselling services by the program is not an acknowledgment or certification by the Crime Victim Assistance Program of the counsellor's competency.

Insurance

Counsellors are expected to assume the risks of their own incompetence, misconduct, or negligence. Counsellors must obtain professional liability insurance including coverage of \$1,000,000 or more per occurrence. Proof of insurance coverage must be provided on an annual basis.

General

It is the counsellors responsibility to ensure the Crime Victim Assistance Program has determined that the claimant is eligible for counselling services or expenses. Claimants are provided a copy of the decision and where they have been provided counselling, they are encouraged to discuss the number of sessions and fees payable with the counsellor in advance of services being provided.

The Crime Victim Assistance Program will generally pay for counselling taken prior to a decision being rendered *only* if:

- the claimant is found to be eligible for benefits, and
- the counselling was in relation to the injuries that arose as a result of the offence.

No payment for counselling will be made where the claimant has been found to be ineligible for benefits, unless an interim decision was made which allowed funding for counselling services while the claim was in process.

Each application received by the Crime Victim Assistance Program is assigned a claim number for administration purposes. A claim number does not signify acceptance of the claim, merely that the claim has been registered with the program for adjudication. Any correspondence regarding an applicant must reference both the applicant's name and their claim number.

Reports

The Crime Victim Assistance Program will provide a claimant a copy of the decision which sets out their eligibility for benefits under the legislation, including the number of hours of counselling to be funded.

Intake Reports:

An intake report is *not* required by the Program except where the program specifically requests an intake assessment and report prior to determining whether counselling benefits will be provided. Where the Program has requested an intake assessment and report, a fee equivalent to a maximum of three (3) hours at the approved fee rate will be paid for completion of the intake session and report. Payment to be made upon receipt of the report and invoice.

Progress or Termination Reports:

A progress or termination report will be requested by the Crime Victim Assistance Program just before completion of the number of hours of counselling provided. A fee is payable for preparation of this report up to a maximum of one (1) hour at the approved fee rate. Payment to be made upon receipt of the report and invoice.

Copies of the forms for the reports are in the Appendices.

Consultations

No fees will be provided for consultation between the counsellor and others involved in the claimant's care, including other counsellors, social workers, school representatives or other service providers, without *prior* approval by the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Consultations with other counsellors, social workers, school representatives or other service providers may be reimbursed where they are considered to be psycho-educational in nature and of benefit in developing a supportive therapeutic/counselling environment for the victim.

Continuation of Counselling

The number of hours of counselling available for victims, immediate family members and witnesses are subject to the conditions and limitations set out in the Crime Victim Assistance (General) Regulation.

Invoices for counselling will be paid only to the extent that the number of hours billed does not exceed the number of counselling hours awarded.

A claimant may identify a need for further counselling and can, subject to the regulations, request a reassessment to increase the number of counselling hours to be funded. The request for reassessment must be submitted by the claimant, not the counsellor.

The Crime Victim Assistance Program may require a psychological assessment by an independent practitioner designated by the Crime Victim Assistance Program in determining eligibility for additional counselling.

Continuation of counselling will be considered only in cases in which the claimant:

- (a) continues to experience psychological harm related to the offence, *and*
- (b) exhibits progress towards recovery from the psychological harm.

Continuation of counselling will not be funded by the Crime Victim Assistance Program when it is evident that:

- the issues being dealt with in counselling are not related to the offence;
- the claimant is making no progress toward recovery, or progress has plateaued, or
- the claimant is undermining their recovery or does not appear committed to working toward recovery.

The counsellor and claimant may want to develop alternate plans for the provision of support and/or counselling following the conclusion of funding through the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Recommencement of Counselling

Claims are closed after a period when there has been no activity on the file. If additional counselling is required after a prolonged break in counselling, the claim can be re-opened upon receipt of a request for reassessment from the claimant (provided the maximum number hours of counselling have not already been provided). Where such a request is received, the program may request that the counsellor provide a report regarding:

- how the present need for counselling relates to the offence;
- the goals of further counselling

Where the Program has requested a report in relation to returning to counselling, the Program will pay a fee equivalent to three (3) hours for consultation with the claimant and completion of an intake report at the approved fee rate.

Psycho-Educational Sessions for Support Persons to Assist the Victim

In some circumstances, where recommended by the counsellor and approved by the Crime Victim Assistance Program, funding for four (4) one-hour support sessions may be provided for persons who form a support system for the claimant. These sessions are educational in nature and are for the purpose of discussing ways in which to support or facilitate the victim's recovery from the offence.

Note: The counsellor's recommendation with respect to psycho-educational sessions does not require a progress report and no fee is payable for this recommendation. The counsellor must contact the program in advance for approval of funding for psycho-educational sessions.

Generally these sessions are available for family members of the victim but can also include other persons identified by the victim and counsellor as having a significant supportive role in facilitating the recovery process.

Immediate Family Members of Victims of Crime

The Crime Victim Assistance Program may fund counselling for immediate family members of injured or deceased victims. "Immediate family members" are defined in the Act as including a spouse, child, sibling, step-sibling, half-sibling or parent of the victim. Grandparents or grandchildren of the victim are also considered to be immediate family members if they were financially dependent on the victim at the time of the victim's injury or death. A person who, although not a parent or child of the victim, was like a parent or child to the victim at the time of the offence is also considered to be an immediate family member of a victim.

Counselling for immediate family members will be limited to a maximum of thirty-six (36) hours, except where the immediate family member was a minor at the time of the offence. When determining an immediate family member's entitlement to counselling or their request for an extension for additional counselling, the Crime Victim Assistance Program will consider evidence provided by a counsellor or medical doctor.

Witness

Under the Crime Victim Assistance Act a "witness" has a particular definition and is not to be confused with the common use of the term 'witness' in a police investigation or court case.

Under the Crime Victim Assistance Act a witness must meet **all** of the following criteria:

- they had a strong emotional attachment to a victim who was killed or suffered life threatening injuries, *and*
- they were in close proximity to the victim when the victim was injured or killed or they came upon the immediate aftermath of the death of the victim, *and*
- the circumstances were sufficient to cause alarm, shock and fright such that the person suffered psychological harm that is diagnosed by a registered psychologist or medical practitioner as a recognized psychological or psychiatric condition.

Counselling for eligible witnesses will be limited to a maximum of twelve (12) hours, except where the witness was a minor at the time the offence occurred.

Group Counselling

Where the claimant attends group counselling, fees are paid in accordance with the approved fee rate set out in Appendix A. Attendance at group counselling is counted as a session in the same manner as if the claimant had attended a one-on-one counselling session.

Attendance by the Offender

The Crime Victim Assistance Program will not fund counselling where the offender attends counselling with the victim.

Change of Counsellor

The Crime Victim Assistance Program recognizes the claimant's right to select a counsellor to meet individual needs. However, the Crime Victim Assistance Program may terminate funding where:

- a) the claimant is changing counsellors on regular basis, and
- b) it appears that no counsellor is being given sufficient time to assist the claimant.

A change of counsellor will not result in an extension of the number of counselling hours funded.

Child Care Workers

The Crime Victim Assistance Program will generally not cover the cost of the involvement of a Child Care Worker. In exceptional cases Crime Victim Assistance Program approval will be considered on the basis of an opinion from the attending counsellor as to the need for this assistance, the specific program to be offered by the Child Care Worker, the duration and cost of the services, and the qualifications of the proposed Child Care Worker.

In-Home Counselling

As in-home counselling would be allowed only in exceptional circumstances, prior approval must be obtained in any case involving couselling taking place in the claimant's home.

Attendance of Counsellor in Court

The cost of attendance of a counsellor in court as a witness will not be funded by the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Cancelled Sessions

The Crime Victim Assistance Program will not pay for cancelled sessions where the claimant has provided sufficient cancellation notice (24 hours).

Where the claimant has failed to attend a scheduled counselling appointment and has not provided sufficient cancellation notice, the Crime Victim Assistance Program will pay the cost of the session, but the session will be deducted from the total number of counselling hours awarded to the claimant unless the counsellor waives the fee.

In the case of cancellation for exceptional circumstances, the Crime Victim Assistance Program will provide funding for an additional counselling session of the same duration.

Where the claimant fails to attend more than three sessions without providing cancellation notice required by the counsellor, the counsellor must notify the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Counselling Aids

Costs for aids such as stress management courses, self-improvement seminars, audio or visual displays, self-help books, tapes or other such materials will not be funded by the Crime Victim Assistance Program.

Telephone Counselling

The cost of telephone counselling will generally not be covered. An exception will be made *only* in circumstances in which telephone counselling takes place in lieu of a scheduled counselling appointment in which the claimant, due to illness or distance, has been unable to attend, or crisis intervention is required. Telephone counselling must be clearly indicated on the invoice specifying the portion of the counselling hour spent on the telephone and an explanation as to the need for this type of counselling.

Travel To and From Counselling Appointments

Travel expenses incurred by the *attending counsellor* to see the claimant will not be accepted in any case without prior Crime Victim Assistance Program approval. Travel by the attending counsellor will be considered only in the event that, due to serious illness, the claimant is unable to travel and crisis intervention is required or in the event that there are no other therapeutic resources available to the claimant within a reasonable proximity of the claimant's residence.

Upon approval by the Crime Victim Assistance Program payment will be made in accordance with the Group I public service employee rates in effect at the time. (Contact the Crime Victim Assistance Program for current rates).

In addition, payment for travel time shall not exceed 50 per cent of the approved counsellor's hourly-approved fee rate.

Invoices

Original invoices, reports and letters should be forwarded to: Crime Victim Assistance Program Box 5550 Stn Terminal Vancouver, BC V6B 1H1

Invoices must identify:

- the name of the claimant
- the claim number for which counselling services were provided
- the date of the counselling session
- the name of the counsellor who provided the counselling

Where the claimant has several claims for which they are entitled to counselling, invoices, letters or reports should identify the specific claim being referenced in the correspondence. This will ensure claimants receive the number of hours of counselling they are entitled to on each claim and counsellors are reimbursed in accordance with the total number of hours awarded.

Invoices must be forwarded to the Crime Victim Assistance Program on a monthly basis. The Crime Victim Assistance Program is a benefit program that is subject to change through amendments to the regulations and payments on overdue accounts cannot be guaranteed.

Intake, progress/termination reports should be invoiced separately for accounting purposes.

Please note: the Crime Victim Assistance Program is GST exempt.

Appendix A: Fee Rates

Maximum Amount for Counselling Services

 Individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who has the following education, training and experience: (a) Education and Training: high school graduation supplemented by completion of one or more relevant continuing education courses or training by an educational institution or agency approved by the director. (b) Experience: minimum of six years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act. Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing. Individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 3, 4 or 5 of this Schedule and who has the following education, training and experience: 	\$40 \$60
 one or more relevant continuing education courses or training by an educational institution or agency approved by the director. (b) Experience: minimum of six years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act. Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing. Individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 3, 4 	\$60
related to counselling to be provided under the Act. Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing. Individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 3, 4	\$60
	\$60
(a) Education and Training: undergraduate degree or two-year diploma in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act. Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing.	
(b) Experience:	
(i) for a person with an undergraduate degree, a minimum of four years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act;	
(ii) for a person with a two-year diploma, a minimum of five years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act.	
Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing.	
In paragraph (b) of this item, "supervised counselling experience" includes any time spent in a supervised clinical placement approved by a college or university, up to a maximum of 500 hours.	
An individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 4 or 5 of this Schedule and who has the following education, training and experience:	\$80
(a) Education and Training: master's degree or doctorate in psychology, psychiatry, social work, clinical or counselling psychology or criminology.	
(b) Experience: A minimum of 6 months supervised counselling experience for a counsellor with a doctorate. A minimum of two years supervised counselling experience for a counsellor with a master's degree.	
	 psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing. (b) Experience: (i) for a person with an undergraduate degree, a minimum of four years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act; (ii) for a person with a two-year diploma, a minimum of five years supervised counselling experience in a field related to counselling to be provided under the Act. Related fields include psychology, social work, criminology, child and youth care or psychiatric nursing. In paragraph (b) of this item, "supervised counselling experience" includes any time spent in a supervised clinical placement approved by a college or university, up to a maximum of 500 hours. An individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 4 or 5 of this Schedule and who has the following education, training and experience: (a) Education and Training: master's degree or doctorate in psychology, psychiatry, social work, clinical or counselling psychology or criminology. (b) Experience: A minimum of 6 months supervised counselling experience for a counsellor with a doctorate. A minimum of two years supervised counselling

	In paragraph (b) of this item, "supervised counselling experience" includes any time spent in a supervised clinical placement approved by a college or university, up to a maximum of 800 hours.	
4	An individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is not described in item 5 of this Schedule and who is a member in good standing and approved for private practice by the B.C. Registered Social Workers Association or an equivalent association in another jurisdiction.	\$95
5	An individual counselling session provided by a counsellor who is a member in good standing of the B.C. Registered Psychologists Association or an equivalent association in another jurisdiction.	\$105
6	A group counselling session provided by a counsellor, irrespective of the education, training and experience of the counsellor.	\$15

[Provisions of the *Crime Victim Assistance Act*, S.B.C. 2001, c. 38, relevant to the enactment of this regulation: sections 3, 4, 9, 26 and 30]

Appendix B: Sample Intake Report



Crime Victim Assistance Program PO Box 5550 Station Terminal Vancouver, BC V6B 1H1 Telephone: (604) 660-3888 Toll free: 1-866-660-3888 Fax: (604) 660-3880

INTAKE REPORT

Claimant's Name:_____Claim No: _____

Targeted Symptoms:

Specify behaviors, thoughts, and emotions directly related to the criminal injury that are the focus of treatment.

Goals:

Describe measurable and specific treatment goals related to targeted symptoms.

Method(s) of Intervention:

Specify treatment modality for targeted symptoms and/or clusters of symptoms.

Desired Outcome: Describe observable outcome that will be used to measure progress.

Prepared by:

Print name

Signature

Date:

Appendix C: Sample Progress/Termination Report



Crime Victim Assistance Program PO Box 5550 Station Terminal Vancouver, BC V6B 1H1 Telephone: (604) 660-3888 Toll free: 1-866-660-3888 Fax (604) 660-3880

PROGRESS/TERMINATION REPORT

Claimant's Name:_____ Claim No: _____

Information Update:

Describe significant changes in claimant's psychological presentation and any other new information since last report or commencement of therapy. (e.g. update current living situation, etc.)



Current Living Situation & Typical Daily Routine:

Describe changes in circumstances regarding homelife, work, and leisure. Describe typical day, including self-care, eating and sleeping patterns, and daily activities.

Current Status of Treatment Plan:

Describe what goals outlined in the treatment plan have been achieved and how you have measured that progress.

Other Comments:

Prepared by:

Date:

Signature

Print Name

Appendix D: Sample Invoices

Invoice for Counselling Services

Date:

Invoice Number:_____

Counsellor Name: Address: Telephone: Fax: Email address:

Session date	Claim Number	Claimant Name	Hours	Fee

Total Fee:_____

Invoice for Reports

Date:

Invoice Number:_____

Counsellor Name: Address: Telephone: Fax: Email address:

Report date	Claim Number	Claimant Name	Type of Report	Fee

Total Fee:_____



Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General

Policing and Community Safety Branch Victim Services Division

PSSG03091 / July 2003